FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 9/26/2019 1:24 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/26/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97712-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANDREW SATURN, Petitioner,

OUR REVOLUTION WASHINGTON, et al., Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Howard R. Morrill
Attorney for Petitioner, WSBA #17252
12345 Lake City Way NE, #1037
Seattle, WA 98125
(206) 539-2604
hr.morrill@comcast.net
MorrillFranchiseLaw.com

I. Identity of Petitioner

Andrew Saturn, *pro se* Defendant in the Superior Court and Appellant in the Court of Appeals, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in part II of this petition.

II. Court of Appeals Decision

Division I of the Court of Appeals filed its unpublished decision on July 22, 2019. *Appendix 1*. A timely motion for reconsideration was filed on August 8, 2019, and was denied on August 27, 2019. *Appendix 2*.

III. Issues Presented for Review

A. After entering an agreed order upon the stipulation of the parties, which order dismissed *all* the Respondents' claims in this case with prejudice and reserved *nothing* for later determination, was it error for the trial court to subsequently entertain and grant a motion by Respondents for their attorneys' fees and costs, filed three weeks after dismissal, and thereafter to deny a timely motion for reconsideration with an order awarding additional attorneys' fees to Respondents?

B. Where published Washington case law holds that a stipulated order of dismissal of all claims, with prejudice, is a final order and *res judicata*, and that a stipulation is in fact a contract between the parties, where neither attorneys' fees nor any other issue was reserved for

subsequent determination in these parties' contract, was it error for the Court of Appeals to affirm the trial court with respect to the orders of the trial court referred to in Issue A?

C. Given that Respondents claimed somehow to be entitled to fees and costs as a "prevailing party" on a stipulated dismissal in response to Petitioner's opening brief before the Court of Appeals, was it error for the Court of Appeals to disregard the fact that the Respondents' motion to the trial court was untimely on that basis, when the untimeliness was indisputable and had been documented by citation to the record in [Petitioner's] brief?

IV. Statement of the Case

On March 9, 2018, these parties stipulated to the entry of an order dismissing this matter and striking the trial date, and that stipulated order was entered by the Court on that date. CP 1 - 3. The stipulated order contained several provisions reflecting the resolution of specific issues and dismissed all Our Revolution Washington's claims against Saturn with prejudice. Id. The order contains no provision for attorneys' fees and costs and reserves no issue for later determination. *See*, Id.

The foregoing notwithstanding, *three weeks later*, Our Revolution Washington filed a motion seeking its fees and costs. CP 4 - 10. That motion was granted on April 16, 2018. CP 11 - 14. Saturn filed a timely

motion to vacate and/or reconsider on April 23, 2018. CP 15-17. The motion was opposed by Our Revolution Washington on May 4, 2018. CP 18-23. Saturn's reply was filed on May 7, 2018. CP 24-26. The trial court denied Saturn's motion and awarded additional attorneys' fees to Our Revolution Washington, by order entered May 14, 2018. CP 27-28.

V. Argument Why Review Should be Granted

A. The trial court had no authority to enter the awards challenged in these proceedings.

A dismissal with prejudice entered on the stipulation of the parties is a final order. *Berschauer Phillips Construction Co. v. Mutual of Enumclaw Insurance Co.*, 175 Wn. App. 222, 227-28, note 11, 308 P. 3d 681 (Div. One 2013). Nothing remained to be decided after entry of such and order and the matter was res judicata. *Id.*; *see also, Krikava v. Webber*, 43 Wn. App. 217, 219 (Div. Two 1986) ("A dismissal with prejudice . . . is equivalent to a final judgment on the merits")(citing *Maib v. Maryland Cas. Co.*, 17 Wn.2d 47, 52, 135 P.2d 71 (1943)). Consideration of and entry of an order on an issue *well after* final judgment was not only highly irregular, it was contrary to law.

Further, the parties' stipulation, their *agreement*, speaks for itself: "Plaintiffs' claims against Mr. Saturn are DISMISSED with prejudice." CP 1-3. There is no way to read that document as anything but a dismissal

of *all* Respondent's claims. CR 54(d)(2) explicitly labels requests for attorneys' fees and expenses as "claims".

The parties' resolved their dispute with a stipulated order striking the trial date and dismissing Our Revolution Washington's claims, with prejudice, in addition to other agreed details. Whatever may have preceded this stipulation, the parties mutually contracted to resolve their dispute *in its entirety. See, Washington Asphalt Co. v. Harold Kaeser Co.*, 51 Wn. 2d 89, 91, 316 P. 2d 126 (1957) ("A judgment by consent or stipulation of the parties is construed as a contract between them embodying the terms of the judgment. It excuses all prior errors and operates to end all controversy between the parties, within the scope of the judgment.").

The parties' contractual silence on the subject of attorneys' fees and costs did not permit the trial court to impose them after the fact.

Again, their stipulation and agreed order was a contract, and court cannot create a contract for the parties they did not make for themselves.

Farmers Ins. v. Miller, 87 Wn. 2d 70, 73, 549 P.2d 9 (1976).

And finally, there is Respondents' remarkable and unsupported contention that they were a "prevailing party" on this stipulation and agreed order of dismissal, and therefore entitled to fees under CR 54(d)(2). Even if this was conceivable, Respondents' motion was inexplicably late

under that rule, which provides that the motion "*must be* filed no later than 10 days after entry of judgment." (emphasis added).

B. The Court of Appeals erred in its disregard of the principles and authorities just cited.

"Res judicata is an issue of law, subject to de novo review on appeal." Berschauer Phillips at 227. The Court of Appeals treatment of these issues amounted to a decision that contractual silence made res judicata inapplicable—despite authority to the contrary—and allowed the trial court free reign to impose unexpected and unagreed to consequences on a pro se Defendant. None of this cannot be squared with the objective of common-sense justice. See, DeNike v. Mowery, 69 Wn. 2d 357, 366, 418 P.2d 1010 (1966) ("Common-sense justice is, of course, the most desirable objective inherent in the application of any legal concept; and where the application of a legal concept so clearly results in injustice, it is incumbent upon the courts to examine the concept and its applicability most carefully.") Indeed, why would Petitioner have been willing to enter into this stipulation in the first instance but for its finality?

C. The tardiness of Respondents' request for fees and costs had been fully shown in [Petitioner's] brief, with citation to the record; the Court of Appeals erred in disregarding that issue.

The <u>Brief of Appellant</u>, with citation to the record, explicitly lays out the dates of the agreed order of dismissal and Respondents' motion for fees and expenses. <u>Brief of Appellant</u>, page 2. A footnote to the Court of Appeal's decision of July 22, 2019 suggests that no such information and citation had been provided. In fact, the dates and citation had been provided by Petitioner.

Further, the footnote suggests that it was not proper reply to point out the immutable fact that the Respondents' motion for fees had not been timely. Petitioner respectfully submits that it was perfectly reasonable and fair to reply to an argument that Respondent had been the "prevailing party" with an observation that such an argument would have required compliance with CR 54(d)(2). The trial court's own rationale for making the award was opaque, to say the least. The Respondents' very unusual argument that they "prevailed" on an agreed order of dismissal—really, that they had prevailed on a settlement agreement—was what brought CR 54(d)(2) directly into play. The timeline set forth in CR 54(d)(2) is mandatory.

And further, the Rules of Appellate Procedure are intended to be construed so as to result in decisions *on the merits*. RAP 1.2(a). How

anyone could have ever argued with the proposition that March 30 is more

than 10 later than March 9 is a mystery to Petitioner, but it was plainly

within the power of the Court of Appeals to permit Respondents to address

the issue if it felt that somehow fairness required that opportunity be

extended.

VI. Conclusion

In the great scheme of things, the dollar amounts involved here are

not immense. But the issues of fundamental fairness, public interest in the

administration of justice and adherence to published precedent, all

explicitly or implicitly mentioned in RAP 13.4(b), weigh heavily in favor

of accepting review of this matter.