FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/29/2019 8:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

### No. 97712-7

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANDREW SATURN, Petitioner,

Vs.

OUR REVOLUTION WASHINGTON, et al., Respondents.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Inge A. Fordham
Fordham Law, PLLC
3218 Sixth Avenue
Tacoma, WA 98406
(253) 348-2657
inge@fordhamlegal.com

##

#### I. Introduction

Respondent Our Revolution Washington ("ORW"), by and through its Board members, Vivian Queija and Ryan Whitney, respectfully request that the Court deny Appellant's Petition for Review.

#### II. Issues Presented for Review

Respondents do not present any issues for review.

#### III. Statement of the Case

Respondents commenced the underlying action on March 16, 2017 to regain control of a non-profit entity, ORW, and to enjoin Appellant, a former board member, from taking unauthorized actions on behalf of, and interfering with the business of, the non-profit entity. CP 29-83. Respondents' Complaint and Amended Complaint both clearly and expressly stated Respondents' claim for attorneys' fees and costs. *Id*.

On September 29, 2017, Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, which sought, *inter alia*, an award of attorneys' fees and costs. CP 84-213. The trial court granted Respondents' request for injunctive relief and ordered Appellant to cease acting or purporting to act for or on behalf of ORW and interfering with the rightful directors' ability to govern and act on behalf of ORW. CP 229-231. The trial court requested a separate motion on the issue of attorneys' fees and costs. *Id*.

On March 12, 2018, on the eve of trial and after several failed attempts to get Appellant to comply with the trial court's summary judgment order, Respondents presented Appellant with a stipulation allowing Respondents to recover the name, UBI Number, and U.S. Federal Tax ID Number for ORW. CP 1-3; 4-10; 18-23. In exchange for Appellant's stipulation, Respondents dismissed their claims to recover donations solicited by Appellant to fund his defense in the underlying case, in addition to Respondents' claims for defamation and tortious interference with business. *Id.* Respondents did not waive their right to pursue recovery of their costs and attorney fees incurred in this action. CP 4-10; 18-23. To the contrary, Respondents expressly reserved their right to file a motion to recover said attorney fees and costs. *Id.* 

In accordance with the trial court's request, Respondents filed a motion seeking recovery of attorney fees and costs. CP 4-10. The motion was granted in full over Appellant's objection. CP 11-14. Appellant forced Respondents to incur additional attorney fees and costs in responding to a subsequent motion to vacate the award of attorney fees and costs. CP 15-17. Therefore, Respondents sought an additional award of attorney fees and costs for having to respond to Appellant's frivolous motion. CP 18-23. The trial court denied Appellant's motion to vacate and awarded an additional \$675 in attorney fees and costs to Respondents for having to respond to

Appellant's motion. CP 27-28.

#### IV. Argument

A. <u>Appellant's Petition for Review Does Not Meet the</u> Requirements of RAP 13.4(b).

As an initial matter, Appellant's Petition for Review should be denied because it does not satisfy the requirements of RAP 13.4(b). The July 22, 2019 opinion by Division I of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals and does not involve a significant question of Constitutional law or an issue of substantial public interest.

B. Res Judicata Does Not Preclude an Award of Attorney Fees in this Case.

The Appellate Court properly upheld the trial court's award of attorney fees pursuant to CR 54(d). *See Chuong Van Pham v. City of Seattle*, 159 Wn.2d 527, 538, 151 P.3d 976 (2007) (an appellate court will uphold an award of attorneys' fees and costs unless it finds the trial court manifestly abused its discretion. As set forth in the July 22, 2019 opinion by Division I of the Court of Appeals, res judicata does not preclude an award of attorney fees in this instance. Neither issue preclusion nor claim preclusion apply.

Issue preclusion does not apply because the trial court did not make any rulings in the stipulated order of dismissal regarding an award of attorney fees. CP 1-3, 230. *See Weaver v. City of Everett*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 303, 315, 320, 421 P.3d 1013 (2018), *review granted*, 192 Wn.2d 1001, 430 P.3d 251 (2018) (final judgment on the merits of an issue is required for issue preclusion). The stipulated order of dismissal was silent as to an award of attorney fees. CP 1-3.

Further, this matter does not involve relitigation of a claim that has already been litigated. Rather, it involves a subsequent stage of the same litigation. *Elliott Bay Adjustment Co., Inc. v. Dacumos*, 200 Wn. App. 208, 214, 218, 401 P.3d 473 (2017) (dismissal with prejudice bars the plaintiff from bringing the same claim against the defendant but does not preclude an award of attorney fees in a subsequent stage of the original action); see also *Weaver*, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 320 ("Generally, res judicata bars the relitigation of claims that were litigated, might have been litigated, or should have been litigated in a prior action.")

Appellant's Petition for Review should be denied because the Appellate Court properly held that res judicata does not bar an award of attorney fees in this case.

C. The Issue of the Timeliness of Respondents' Motion for Attorney Fees is not Properly Before the Court.

Ironically, Appellant's argument regarding the timeliness of Respondent's motion for attorney fees in the underlying action is not properly before the court as it was not timely raised in Appellant's initial brief to Division I of the Court of Appeals. Appellant did not raise the timeliness of Respondent's motion for fees pursuant to CR 54(d) in his appeal to Division I of the Court of Appeals. *See* Appellant's Brief at p. 3. He cannot bootstrap this argument into a reply by arguing that Respondents' timeliness somehow relates to whether Respondents were the prevailing party in the underlying action. These are two separate arguments.

Moreover, Appellant's contention that Respondents were not the "prevailing party" in the underlying litigation is simply disingenuous. The trial court entered summary judgment against the Appellant in favor of Respondents and requested a separate motion on Respondents' request for an award of attorney fees. CP 229-231. In accordance with the trial court's request, Respondents filed a motion seeking recovery of attorney fees and costs, which was granted in full over Appellant's objection. CP 11-14. Appellant forced Respondents to incur additional attorney fees and costs in responding to a subsequent motion to vacate the award of attorney fees and costs (CP 15-17) and continues to force Respondents to incur additional attorney fees and costs with each appeal and petition for review.

#### V. Conclusion

Respondents respectfully request that this Court deny Appellant

Andrew Saturn's Petition for Review. This matter is not appropriate for

review by the State's highest court as it does not satisfy the requirements of

RAP 13.4(b). Division I of the Court of Appeals properly held that res

judicata does not bar an award of attorney fees in favor of Respondents as

the trial court did not rule on the issue of attorney fees (rather, it specifically

reserved ruling on that issue). Respondent's request for an award of

attorney fees was not subsequent litigation; rather, it was a subsequent stage

of the same litigation.

Appellant should not be rewarded for needlessly and repeatedly

forcing Respondents to incur additional attorney fees and costs in this

matter. Respondents request that the Court deny Appellant's Petition for

Review and put this matter to rest once and for all.